
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Our Ref: JB

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Tuesday, 12 September 2017

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 21st September, 2017 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
21 September 2017

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 5 - 12

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 July 2017.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 13 - 15

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 16 - 20

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 5 September 2017. 

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 21 - 26

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 6 July 2017.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 

a) 31 July 2017 27 - 38 

Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 31 July 
2017.

b) 29 August 2017 39 - 47 

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 29 
August 2017.

11. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 48 - 50

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance & Audit Committee meeting held on 28 
July 2017.



Council
21 September 2017

12. FLEXIBLE HOUSING SUPPORT GRANT 51 - 54

Report of the Executive Member for Growth.

13. OFFICERS CODE OF CONDUCT 55 - 72

Report of the Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & Transformation.

14. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

1. Governance & Audit Committee (substitute): VACANCY (Con)
2. Licensing Committee/Committee of the Licensing Authority: VACANCY 

(Con)
3. Member Development Panel: Vacancy (Con)

15. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY)

16. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.

Members are asked to note that a Strategy & Governance Directorate presentation will 
take place immediately after the meeting.

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 27 July 2017 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S. Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mrs T. Hewett
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank (Chairman)
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr M. Taylor
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Alex Chrusciak - Director of Planning and Building Control
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action 
By

111/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame, Carter, Marion 
Chapman-Allen, Clarke, Crawford, Paul Hewett, Hollis, Newton and Turner.

112/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2017 were confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

113/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Cowen, the Portfolio Holder for Finance declared his existing interest in 
Agenda item 11 as a Chartered Architect in the Breckland area.

114/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman had been very busy since the last Full Council meeting but the main 

5

Agenda Item 2



Council
27 July 2017

2

highlights had been the Lord Mayor’s procession earlier in July and the skydive that 
she had recently completed in aid of her chosen charity - photographs of the 
Chairman jumping from the plane were circulated.

The Chairman advised Members that her Reception would be held on Friday, 17 
November 2017 at Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club and would include an 
Auction of Promises of which ideas would be welcomed.  It was noted that the 
invitation was open to both Members and Officers of the Council. 

Members were reminded that a presentation by the Director of Place would be held 
immediately following the Full Council meeting.

The Chairman and Members conveyed their best wishes to Councillor Marion 
Chapman-Allen and all had been pleased to hear that she was doing well.  

115/17 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Leader’s only announcement for this meeting was in relation to the Local Plan.  
The Local Plan had involved numerous meetings all around the District.  5,000 
comments had been received which had been a huge response and a huge task for 
the Planning Policy Team.  Additionally, 680 sites had been submitted to the Council 
for consideration and he thanked all involved particularly the three Chairmen of the 
Local Plan Working Group (past and present).

The next steps, assuming approval, was for the Council to endorse the pre-
submission documentation for a six week public consultation period.  This would be 
followed by submission to the Planning Inspectorate in November, the Examination 
Hearing in January/February 2018, the Planning Inspectorate’s report in April 2018 
and dependent on all the above, the Local Plan for Breckland should hopefully be 
adopted by the Full Council in mid-summer 2018.

No questions were asked.

116/17 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

117/17 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 7) 

Councillor Gilbert asked the Leader when Members would have sight of the street 
lighting report.  The Leader explained that the report would be ready very soon 
shortly after the summer recess.

Councillor Jermy directed his question to Councillor Bambridge, the Portfolio Holder 
for Growth and asked if any effort had been made by Breckland Council to address 
the void rates of tenants between properties. The Director of Place said that he would 
speak to Councillor Jermy after the meeting; however, the Leader pointed out that a 
meeting had been convened with the Chairman of Flagship Housing and there was 
now a much closer working relationship between Flagship and the Council.

Councillor Jermy also directed a question to Councillor Robinson, the Portfolio Holder 
for Governance and asked him if it was a requirement of the Constitution that Elected 
Members had to be a resident of the UK.  This question was passed to the Executive 
Manager for Governance to answer.  It was explained that a person had to be a UK 

Action 
By

6



Council
27 July 2017

3

resident and meet one of the necessary district qualification criteria when standing for 
Election.  However, there were Standing Orders within the Constitution about 
attendance at meetings where Members were absent for a sustained period.

Councillor Taylor directed his question to the Leader as he was concerned about the 
major parking and speeding traffic problems in the town centre in Thetford and 
wanted to know if there was anything that Breckland Council could do. Members 
were informed that both issues would have to be dealt with by the Police; however, 
contacting the Norfolk County Councillors for the Thetford area could also help as it 
would put pressure on those responsible.  

Councillors Martin, Sherwood, Nairn and Joel provided Councillor Taylor with a 
number of ideas and information that were relevant to the matters concerned.

118/17 CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

a) Breckland Local Plan and the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
Document (Minute No. 75/17)

See Minute No 121/17 below.

b) Grant Funding (Minute No. 76/17)

Councillor Jermy was supportive of the recommendation; however, he felt that 
gambling was a real problem in the District and ‘loan sharks’ were, in his 
opinion, a serious concern due to the fact that there was a lack of Credit 
Unions in the area.

RESOLVED that a match funding reserve of £300,000 be maintained for 
grant giving in 2017/18 and 2018/19 (£150,000 per annum) and that the 
remaining balance from this Reserve be de-allocated and made available for 
investment, linked to the Council’s developing Investment Strategy.

c) Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) – Thetford (Minute No. 77/17)

Councillor Stasiak felt that the Minutes were incomplete and did not 
reflect the discussion that took place.  Councillor Cowen agreed and 
pointed out that there had been a significant discussion on this item.  The 
Leader of the Council, Councillor Nunn asked for clarification on this matter.  
The Executive Director of Place advised that the Council was able to apply 
to make a PSPO on any public space within the district but before doing so 
it had to consult with the local police.  How enforcement of the PSPO was 
resourced was a matter for a number of local bodies, e.g. Council, 
Police and Town Council to determine.  

d) Locally Administered Business Rates Relief Scheme (Minute No. 79/17)

RESOLVED that:

i. the guidelines to award relief to local businesses with a rateable value 
under £200,000 and an increase resulting from the 2017 revaluation 
above 11% be approved; and

ii. the S151 Officer in conjunction with the Leader be given delegated 
power to finalise the scheme and to determine the Rateable value cap 

Action 
By

7



Council
27 July 2017

4

and percentage each year.

e) Market Town Initiative – Grant Re-Allocation (Minute No. 80/17)

RESOLVED that the Pride in Breckland programme be concluded and that 
the residual funding held in reserve for this programme be reallocated to the 
Market Town Initiative.

f) Breckland Training Services – Next Steps and Options (Minute No. 82/17(a)

See Minute No 128/17 below.

g) Adoption

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 July 2017 be 
adopted.

119/17 PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

(a) 12 June 2017  

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 12 June 2017 be adopted.

(b) 3 July 2017  

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 3 July 2017 be adopted.

120/17 GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

(a) Minutes  

a. Treasury Management Out-turn Report (Minute No. 30/17)

RESOLVED that:

i. the actual 2016-17 prudential indicators be approved; and

ii. the Treasury Management stewardship report (presented to the 
Committee at its meeting on 13 June 2017) for 2016-17 at Appendix 
B and C of the report be noted.

b. Annual Report of the Governance and Audit Committee (Minute No. 34/17)

See Minute No 120/17(b) below.

c. Adoption

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Governance & Audit Committee 
meeting held on 13 June 2017 be adopted.

(b) Annual Report of the Governance and Audit Committee  

RESOLVED that the contents of the Annual Report be approved.

Action 
By

8



Council
27 July 2017

5

121/17 BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN PRE-SUBMISSION PUBLICATION DOCUMENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Councillor Bambridge, the Executive Member for Growth presented the report and 
echoed the comments made by the Leader under agenda item 5.  A great deal of 
work had been carried out by the Planning Policy Team over the last 8 years which 
had intensified during the past 18 months.

The Director of Planning & Building Control and the Strategic Planning Manager were 
in attendance. The report highlighted a number of changes since the last ‘Regulation 
18’ consultation.

Alex Chrusciak, the Director of Planning & Building Control explained that the Local 
Plan presented within the report had been subject to significant consultation during 
its preparation and had been shaped by 29 meetings of the Local Plan Working 
Group which included meetings held at venues across the District.  

Members were taken through the key points of the report (see sections 1.5 to 1.32 of 
the report). A particular point that Members were asked to note was the increase in 
housing need equating to 14,900 to 15,300 new homes over the Plan period.  The 
Director of Planning & Building Control was confident that the Council could meet this 
requirement and explained the housing trajectory stepped approach methodology 
that was considered to be appropriate for Breckland having regard  to the urban 
extensions being planned.

The emerging Local Plan, if approved, would be published for a period of 6 weeks 
not as wide-ranging consultation document but as a pre-submission publication; in 
other words, a final check to establish whether the Plan was sound.  Paragraph 182 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set out the tests of soundness 
and these were read aloud by the Director of Planning & Building Control (see 
paragraph 1.27 of the report).

Councillor Gilbert congratulated the Planning Policy Team for the immense amount of 
hard work and fully endorsed the stepped approach but asked how confident Officers 
were that this approach was deliverable.  Members were informed that sufficient 
allocations had been set as part of the Council’s trajectory but did not prevent earlier 
delivery.  Councillor Bambridge pointed out that the Council should be providing 
housing for people who lived in the District.  

Councillor Jermy echoed the comments made by all concerned and thanked the 
Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission and the Strategic Planning 
Manager for responding to the questions that he had previously sent; however, he 
wanted to know if the affordable housing data was up to date and whether it reflected 
the need.  He also wanted it confirmed that the numbers of affordable housing were 
being delivered and was reaching the target set.  The Director of Planning & Building 
Control highlighted the fact that this had been one of the key changes in the Local 
Plan due to the fact that in the current Core Strategy the 40% affordable housing 
figure had been unobtainable.  A viability test had been carried out and it had been 
found that a level of 20% was viable but the Plan had been set at 25%; more could 
be secured but a balance had to be reached as the Council did not want to stifle 
development.  Councillor Bambridge concurred with the above comments.  

Councillor Webb, as a Member of the Local Plan Working Group, re-iterated all that 
had been said and congratulated Councillor Bambridge for his chairmanship of those 

Action 
By

9



Council
27 July 2017

6

meetings as he had listened and, where justified changes had been made.  She 
conveyed her thanks to the Officers too.  

Councillor Borrett challenged Councillor Jermy’s aforementioned point in relation to 
affordable housing.  He explained that Breckland had lower unemployment and a 
growing economy and he did not deny that there was a demand but the Council had 
to have a deliverable percentage otherwise the five year housing land supply would 
not be met and the Local Plan would mean nothing and Breckland would up with less 
affordable homes.

Councillor Robert Richmond also thanked the Planning Policy Team - their hard work 
had been recognised; however, he had been asked to raise a question on the quality 
of design.  Councillor Bambridge advised that a supplementary planning document 
would be prepared to support the Design Policy that was already included in the 
Local Plan.  Such supplementary documents would be brought through the 
committee process and all would have an opportunity to input into it. The Director of 
Planning & Building Control advised that these documents added meat to the bones 
to policies GEN02 and COMM01 of the Local Plan.

Councillor Wilkinson felt that a 25% affordable housing target was reasonable but 
asked about housing for the elderly of which there was a great shortage.  Such 
housing was being promoted by the Local Government Association and therefore 
should be incorporated.  Councillor Bambridge explained that as a Council 
improvements to those areas were already being looked at but were not included in 
the Local Plan.  

Councillor Jermy responded to the comments made by Councillor Borrett and pointed 
out people on low wages could not afford rent, a mortgage or a deposit.

RESOLVED that:

1. the Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment be endorsed for a six week publication 
period;

2. following statutory public consultation, delegated powers be given to the 
Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and Executive 
Member for Growth to submit the Local Plan, subject to any minor 
modifications, for examination provided that no substantive objections have 
been submitted;

3. delegated authority be given to the Strategic Planning Manager in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Growth to make minor 
modifications and amendments to the draft Local Plan prior to 
commencement of the Statutory Public Consultation; and

4. delegated authority be given to the Strategic Planning Manager in 
consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Growth to agree 
amendments to the Local Plan arising during the Examination in Public.

122/17 MODERN SLAVERY (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen presented the report.

Action 
By

10



Council
27 July 2017

7

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 placed an obligation upon businesses with a total 
turnover in excess of £36 million.  Once a business reached this threshold, the 
obligation was to prepare a “Slavery and Human Trafficking” statement.

RESOLVED that the Modern Slavery Statement be approved and published on the 
Council’s website. 
 

123/17 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

RESOLVED that Councillor Bambridge be appointed as a Member of the Area 
Museums Committee.

124/17 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

None.

125/17 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
(AGENDA ITEM 15) 

None.

126/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

127/17 SERVICE REVIEW: EXECUTIVE SUPPORT FUNCTION (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen presented the report and updated 
Members on the service review of the Executive Support Team.

RESOLVED that:

1) The Head of Paid Services and/or the Executive Director for Strategy 
& Governance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Executive 
Member for Strategy, Governance & Transformation be authorised to 
implement the proposals subject to no major change.

2) The Head of Paid Services and/or the Executive Director for Strategy 
& Governance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Executive 
Member for Strategy, Governance & Transformation be authorised to 
make minor amendments and redundancies as necessary.

128/17 BRECKLAND TRAINING SERVICES - NEXT STEPS (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

The Executive Member for Finance, Councillor Cowen, presented the report asking 
Members to consider next steps and options in relation to the future of Breckland 
Training Services (BTS).

Detailed background information was provided.

Councillor Jermy felt that the report underplayed the benefits that BTS brought to the 

Action 
By

11



Council
27 July 2017

8

Council.

RESOLVED that the recommendations as listed in the report be approved.

The meeting closed at 11.05 am

CHAIRMAN

Action 
By

12



Engagement List – Chairman

27th July – 20th September 2017

Date Event Host

27 July 2017 Summer Reception Chairman of NCC

Cllr John Ward

30 July 2017 Civic Service Mayor of Dereham

31 July 2017 Thetford Tour of the Town Mayor of Thetford – Denis Crawford

4 August 2017 Combined RAF Lakenheath & RAF 
Mildenhall Civic Summer Lunch 

Reception

Colonel Pettus, Colonel Amrhein & 
Colonel Smith

6 August 2017 Wayland Show The Wayland Agricultural Society CIC

1 September 2017 Raising the Red Ensign for Merchant 
Navy Day

Chairman of Breckland Council

7 September 2017 Civic Reception Chairman of North Norfolk District 
Council – Cllr Richard Shepherd

10 September 2017 Civic Reception Mayor of Great Yarmouth

13

A
genda Item

 4



11 September 2017 Opening of Battle of Britain Week Sheriff of Norwich David Walker and 
Lord Mayor of Norwich Cllr David 

Fullman

14 September 2017 Inauguration of the Snetterton 
Renewable Energy Plant

Beal BWSC East Anglia Ltd

14 September 2017 Celebration of Volunteering followed 
by a Reception

The High Sheriff of Norfolk & Mrs James 
Bagge

19 September 2017 President’s Reception Major General Sir William Cubitt 
President of the Royal British Legion

20 September 2017 Celebration marking a successful 
programme to preserve the music sets 
service and to launch an initiative to 
encourage community music making

Norfolk Library and Information Service 
and the Norfolk Music Library Friends

Engagement List - Vice-Chairman

14



27th July – 20th September 2017

Date Event Host

5 September 2017 Norfolk County Scout Council AGM President of the Norfolk County Scout 
Council

Richard Jewson

17 September 2017 Battle of Britain Memorial Service Mayor of Dereham

Cllr Hilary Bushell

15



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 5 September 2017 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J. Newton

Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Cassie Ruffell - Business Growth Officer

Action By

83/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. .

84/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

None.

85/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

86/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

Public Document Pack

16

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet
5 September 2017

2

87/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 
5) 

The Chairman welcomed back Councillor Chapman-Allen.  Members 
applauded Marion’s return.

Councillors Marion Chapman-Allen, Shirley Matthews, Bill Borrett, Harry 
Clarke, Keith Martin, Mike Nairn, John Newton and Peter Wilkinson.

88/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

89/17 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) presented two match funding 
application reports, the first for Carbrooke Village Hall and the second for the 
Wayland Partnership Development Trust; both of which were being 
recommended for approval.

 (a) Carbrooke Village Hall  

The report concerned a large match funding application for renovations to 
the kitchens and toilets in Carbrooke Village Hall.

Although in support of the application, the Executive Member for Place 
(Health Lead) felt that additional leverage could be applied to access other 
funding streams to assist with the growth in the village.

The Executive Member for Finance mentioned a recent development in 
Wretham which had benefited from S106 monies for the refurbishment of 
the village hall and felt that this form of funding should be encouraged.

Councillor Theresa Hewett, one of the Ward Members for Carbrooke, had 
also supported the application.  

Reasons

The grant application met the criteria of the scheme.

Options

1. Fully fund the application as set out in the report
2. Part fund the application as set out in the report
3. Do nothing

RESOLVED that the Match Funding grant of £14,400 (or 30% of the project 
costs, whichever is the lower amount) to Carbrooke Village Hall to carry out 
renovations to the kitchen and toilets be approved.

 (b) Wayland Partnership Development Trust  

The report concerned an application from the Wayland Partnership 
Development Trust for £19,972.60 for a new project called Wayland 

Action By

17



Cabinet
5 September 2017

3

Community of Culture.  The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) 
supported the application as he was impressed with how the town of 
Watton was developing.

The Executive Member for Governance was also in full support and hoped 
that Thetford would benefit too with something similar.

Reasons

The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

Options

1. Fully fund the application as set out in the report
2. Part fund the application as set out in the report
3. Do nothing

RESOLVED that the Match Funding grant of £19,972.60 (or 20.8% of the 
project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to The Wayland Partnership 
Development Trust towards a new project called Wayland Community of 
Culture be approved.

90/17 BUSINESS RATES FOR THE DEREHAM PILOT SCHEME (AGENDA ITEM 
8) 

The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) presented the report which 
concerned the introduction of a discretionary retail rate relief scheme for the 
five market towns in Breckland.

The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) was in full support of this 
scheme as it would allow small independent retail businesses a little relief.  
He felt that the process should be kept as simple as possible to allow for a 
better take up. He further felt that this scheme should form part of the Market 
Town Initiative ‘umbrella’.

Councillor Clarke echoed the above comments. He had been disappointed 
with the lack of support from businesses in Dereham and drew Members’ 
attention to paragraph 1.4 of the report where it stated that some businesses 
had not been aware of the scheme. He therefore felt that it should to be 
reinforced and promoted accordingly.

The Executive Member for People and Information thought that the scheme 
was an excellent initiative as market towns, in this day and age, needed to be 
supported to encourage more businesses into the town centres.

The Executive Member for Growth echoed the aforementioned comments but 
pointed out that it was a very simple process - you either qualified or not.  
Referring to Watton, in relation to the Wayland Partnership, mentioned in the 
previous Minute, he felt that the reinstatement of the Dereham Business 
Forum was very important as it would ease the interaction between the 
Council and businesses.

The Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation was pleased that 
all Members were in favour of the scheme as any help to businesses would 
be welcomed.

Action By

18



Cabinet
5 September 2017

4

The Leader had listened to the comments made about Dereham and asked 
how Officers were proposing to inform businesses of eligibility.  The Business 
Growth Officer advised that there were many ways that businesses could be 
notified but a full marketing campaign would be required.

The Executive Director of Place explained that he and the Communications 
Manager were already working on a Communications Strategy to promote the 
scheme.

The Executive Member for Finance asked if retail premises in rural areas 
would qualify.  In response, Members were informed that it would depend on 
the location and where the boundaries were defined.

Reasons

Breckland Council had a clear corporate commitment to helping its market 
towns to thrive in order that they in turn provide the required support to 
surrounding villages and hinterlands.  It was recognised that Breckland’s 
market towns need to be vibrant and busy, offering an interesting and 
enjoyable experience to visitors.  Out of town and online shopping have 
drawn many people away from town centres; thus, businesses found it hard 
to sustain a presence on the High Street.  High rents, competition and 
business rates added to the problem of void premises, a preponderance of 
charity shops in some town centres and low quality retail offers in others. 
Breckland Council had an important role in facilitating the renaissance of its 
town centres.  

Options

1. Members consider the introduction of a discretionary business rate 
relief scheme for new retail businesses filling empty properties within 
the five market towns of Breckland.  The scheme would commence in 
early 2018 with applications accepted over a 12 month period.  The 
scheme would offer up to 80% business rate relief for a 12 month 
period and would be targeted at businesses that met all eligible 
criteria.  The scheme as a whole would be reviewed annually.  
Financial details of the scheme had been attached to the report.

2. Do nothing – continue to offer the current scheme of small business 
relief and the Government Empty Premises relief.

RECOMMEND to Council that the discretionary retail rate relief scheme 
within the five market towns of Breckland, as detailed in the report, be 
adopted.

91/17 QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 (AGENDA 
ITEM 9) 

The Executive Member for Finance presented the report which provided 
information on the forecast full year financial position of the Council as at 30 
June 2017 and progress to date on the Moving Forward Transformation 
Programme. He commended the report and drew attention to the under-
spend highlighted at paragraph 1.2. 

Action By

19



Cabinet
5 September 2017

5

Reasons

To provide timely information to Members of the overall financial position of 
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

Options

That the report and appendix be noted.

RESOLVED that the report and appendix be noted.

92/17 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 17 October 2017 at 
9.30am in the Norfolk Room were noted.

93/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

94/17 PROCUREMENT OF WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT 
(AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Members were provided with a detailed overview of the report.

The Deputy Leader suggested that the delegated authority, referred to in 
recommendation 1, refer instead to the Director of Strategy & Governance 
and the Deputy Leader and the same individuals be appointed to the Board 
referred to in recommendation 4.

Reasons

As set out in the report.

Options

As set out in the report.

RESOLVED that the recommendations, as amended, be approved.

The meeting closed at 10.25 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

20



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 6 July 2017 at 1.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr R. R. Richmond

Also Present
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr J Newton
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr K. Martin
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Alex Chrusciak - Director of Planning and Building Control
Pete Fuller - Locality Officer Engagement
Stephen James - Communities Manager
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Tim Mills - Executive Manager Growth
Sarah Robertson - Senior Planning Policy Officer*
Riana Rudland - Breckland Place Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By
57/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 May 2017 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

58/17 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Dimoglou. 
Councillor Wilkinson was present as his substitute.

59/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

60/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Agenda Item 9 - Councillor Kybird Declared an Interest under TH23 in 
that he was involved in re-tendering for work on existing buildings in the 
urban extension.

21

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 July 2017

2

61/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Bambridge, Claussen, Clarke, Newton, Martin, Robinson 
and Sharpe were in attendance.

62/17 UNSIGHTLY AND DERELICT SITES AND LAND 

The Community and Environmental Services Manager outlined the 
report to Members, explaining the prioritisation process.  

Councillor Jermy was encouraged by the piece of work that had been 
undertaken, and that if the issues were addressed it would make a 
difference across the district.  He asked how the quick wins would be 
promoted and it was clarified that the Communications Team would be 
involved to promote the successes.

Councillor Joel was disappointed to see that Banham Poultry building 
was not included in the top 12.  The Community and Environmental 
Services Manager said that although the site was not in the top 12, it did 
not mean this would not be dealt with.  The performance framework 
would ensure the benefits of the initiative were realised and the list 
would be used as an action plan.  It would capture progress and record 
outcomes of interventions that would allow for ongoing Member 
engagement throughout the process. 

Councillor Wilkinson asked if the Town and Parish Councils had been 
consulted with.  Members were informed that the consultation was with 
the Breckland ward members who were familiar with their local 
communities.  

Councillor Brame highlighted that the Cottage Hospital Thetford had 
been categorised into the wrong ward.  This would be amended.

Councillor Richmond asked how graded listed sites would be taken 
forward.  The Community and Environmental Services Manager said 
colleagues would work closely with the planning department and the 
piece of work would formalise the approach to work closely with 
agencies and land owners.

Councillor Clarke said he had shared the initiative publically asking for 
residents to provide him with details.  He felt it was a really good 
initiative to enhance the Towns. 

The Executive Member for Finance asked how the initiative would be 
implemented if work had commenced on a site, but then had left it for a 
length of time.  He asked if the Authority could impose new policies on 
developers to take action.

The Chairman suggested a function was added to the council’s website 
to allow residents to report unsightly sites.  The Executive Director of 
Place agreed to look into this.

Members AGREED to recommend the report to CABINET and the 
additional recommendations be added: 

1) The ability to add the facility to report unsightly sites on the 

Action By

22



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 July 2017

3

website, under the ‘report it’ button.

2) That Cabinet asks Officers to explore what action can be taken 
on untidy sites where planning permission has been granted but 
the development has not yet been completed.  

63/17 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

Members received a presentation by the Executive Director of 
Commercialisation on the Council’s Treasury Management strategy.

Councillor Richmond asked that following the successful commercial 
property portfolio if the Council would consider purchasing a land estate 
that would provide tremendous growth over future years.  The Executive 
Director of Commercialisation said that reserves would need to be used 
to provide this solution and there was a distinction between temporary 
and permanent use of cash.

Councillor Oliver asked if it would be possible for the local authority to 
borrow money from public loan board to purchase an asset.  The 
Executive Director of Commercialisation said in order to borrow it would 
need to be a specific project to invest in.

Councillor Oliver went onto ask if public money borrowings were always 
annuitizing.  If there was a maturity mis-match would it be possible to 
borrow for a period of 25 years, or would it need to be borrowed for a 
specific project.  The Executive Director of Commercialisation said that 
it was a requirement for annuitizing, and whilst maturity mis-matching 
could happen, based on previous modelling this would not be viable.  
The Commercial assets were performing well, however the housing 
yield was much lower.

The Executive Member for Growth asked if the authority could invest in 
commodities such as art giving a higher return.  Whilst this could be an 
option the profit would only be realised once it had been sold.

The Executive Member for Finance explained that the Authority would 
need to determine what it was trying to achieve.  The work underpinned 
many policy decisions it would need to take over the next few years, 
and it needed a clear understanding of how it all worked.

Councillor Oliver presumed that when money was borrowed from the 
public loan body it was on a fixed term basis.  If this was the case, then 
he would be interested in seeing more detail on share modelling as 
there were some portfolios that would see a yield of between 4 – 7%.  
He also added that the commercial portfolio had been successful due to 
decisions that had been taken a while ago.  He would like to see that 
the council in 20 years time would be thankful of the decisions that 
would be made now.

The Chairman thanked the Executive Director for Commercialisation 
and asked that the Executive Member for Finance return to a future 
meeting of the Commission to explain this in further detail.

Action By

23



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 July 2017

4

64/17 BUDGET TASK & FINISH GROUP IDENTIFIED OPPORTUNITIES 

The Executive Director for Commercialisation updated Members on the 
opportunities and ideas Members had raised as part of the Task and 
Finish Group, and that many of the suggestions had been incorporated 
into the process.

Councillor Oliver asked what level of debt would be sustainable for the 
business.  It was confirmed it would depend on the asset to be required, 
and the impact it would have if it did not perform.

Councillor Jermy asked if the street lighting was subject to the 2% cap 
on the Council tax, as it was a risk element for the Council. The 
Executive Director for Commercialisation said this was a question being 
asked of the street lighting, commercial stock and the back-log of 
repairs and the cost to rectify this.  Councillor Wilkinson added that 
within his ward a Parish had invested in LED lighting, which had helped 
to reduce the running costs.

Councillor Richmond questioned if the organisation was looking to deal 
with North Sea energy, or if there were any sites that could capitalise 
this.  The Executive Director for Commercialisation said this would 
come under business rates into the authority who were actively acting 
as a partner for the companies who were thinking of undertaking as part 
of their business.

The Chairman asked for the Executive Member of Finance to report 
back to the Commission on the budget consultation.

65/17 BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN PRE-SUBMISSION PUBLICATION 
DOCUMENT AND STRATEGIC HOUSING MARKET ASSESSMENT- 
SEE SEPARATE SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA PACKS 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the Strategic Market 
Housing Assessment first.  The Senior Planning Policy Officer informed 
Members that the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment formed the key element of the housing evidence which was 
required to support the Local Plan.  The important element was the 
housing target to be delivered across the district equated to 612 
dwellings per annum for the Local Plan during the period of 2011 – 
2036.

Councillor Jermy was struck by the annual requirements for the number 
of affordable units had been set at 33% and asked how realistic this 
would be. The Senior Planning Policy Officer said the figure had been 
set across the whole of central Norfolk, and had not specifically been 
broken down for the Breckland area.  However, it was expected that 
25% would be the highest level that could be achieved across 
Breckland.  
The Executive Member for Growth added that the Local Plan Working 
Group had examined the figure and were confident it could be achieved.
The Director of Planning and Building Control confirmed that the 
evidence base had demonstrated 25% would be achievable.  A viability 
assessment would be required by developers during the planning 
application to reflect this had been considered.

Action By

24



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 July 2017

5

Councillor Jermy asked for assurances that 25% would be achieved.  
The Strategic Planning Manager added that there could be occasions 
when a development site would be below the target, but this would be 
shown through the viability assessment.

Members AGREED to recommend the Central Norfolk Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment report to CABINET.

The Director of Planning and Building Control went onto present the 
Breckland Local Plan Pre-Submission report to Members explaining it 
had been shaped through a long process of public and stakeholder 
engagement and evidence gathering.
The primary aim of the Local Plan was to meet the need within 
Breckland for housing and associated employment and facilities.  A key 
part of the Council’s evidence base was the objectively assessed 
housing needs which had been provided by the Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment.  

The Local plan had been underpinned by a number of background 
reports and evidence.  The key elements of those such as the Habitat 
Regulations Assessment and the Duty to Co-operate statement were 
included as appendices to the report.  The evidence would be submitted 
to the planning inspectorate at the same time as the local plan.

Members were informed that the Mattishall section of the Local Plan 
had been updated to remove site LP[061]019 and had been correctly 
changed.  However it was still shown in Appendix H, and the error 
would be corrected before the plan was considered by Cabinet.

Councillor Clark congratulated the planning team on the large 
document.  He went onto ask if developers were specifically aware of 
the green infrastructure within the District.   The Executive Member for 
Growth said the 112 communities across the district had some elements 
of the green infrastructure and had been acknowledged within 
Dereham.
The Senior Planning Policy Officer added that Dereham had undertaken 
a Dereham Town wide study which had been included within the 
evidence base.  The Director of Planning and Building Control said the 
policy related to the whole District and was aware that more places 
would have these studies.  

Councillor Kybird noted that policy TH10 on Allotments had been 
replaced by ENV04, Open Space, Sport and Recreation, however this 
did not mention Allotments and this was something that had been 
lacking within the developments in Thetford.
The Director of Planning and Building Control said that the TH10 was a 
Thetford specific policy, but was still captured within the ENV04 as it 
was a public amenity space provided.  He agreed to modify the wording 
to ensure it included allotments.

Councillor Brame asked who considered the design criteria and how 
much weight could the planning department, and the Planning 
Committee put on the design.  The Director of Planning and Building 
Control said it was down to the applicant to assess the local area, and 
to have due regard for the design when submitting the plans.

Action By

25



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 July 2017

6

Councillor T Monument highlighted that on Page 71 it referred to 
LP[025]023 Land off Shipdham Road, and this should be amended to 
Land off Swanton Road.

Councillor Duigan said Members should be wary of the design 
principles across the District, as a development within Thetford would 
look different within Dereham.

Councillor Richmond asked how he could motivate his parishes to 
accept development areas, especially with regard to allowing new builds 
within the village.  The Director of Planning and Building Control would 
expect to see new development to meet the local need.  He also added 
that the towns and villages had the option to put together a 
Neighbourhood Plan.

Members AGREED to recommend the Breckland Local Plan Pre-
Submission publication document forward to CABINET.

66/17 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Brame informed Members that the Thetford Grammar school 
had been sold and that he was no longer a Member of the educational 
element, but may continue with the charity. 

The Chairman asked for a representative from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission to be on the Swaffham Air Quality action group.  It 
was agreed that Councillor Peter Wilkinson would undertake this role.

67/17 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

68/17 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

69/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

Members asked for the Executive Member for Finance to report back to 
the Commission and provide a briefing on his portfolio.

Councillor Jermy asked for the Commission to receive an update on 
Breckland Bridge.

Members also asked for a report on the Better Broadband for Norfolk to 
be added to the Work Programme.

70/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 14 September 2017 at 
2.00pm were noted.

The meeting closed at 3.50 pm
CHAIRMAN

Action By

26



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 31 July 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr F.J. Sharpe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin

Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr K.S. Gilbert (Substitute Member)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Substitute Member)
Mr M. Taylor (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr A.C. Stasiak (Ward 
Representative)
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr S. Askew (Ward 
Representative)

Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control*
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner*
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Mike Brennan Head of Development Management*
Chris Hobson Principal Planning Officer*
Rebecca Collins Principal DM Planner/Team Leader (Major 

Projects)*
Kathryn Matthews Planning Technician*
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer
Charlotte Brennan Technical Support Team Leader*

 * Capita for Breckland Council

Action By
73/17MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

74/17APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame, Marion Chapman-
Allen, Clarke and Hollis.

Substitutes in attendance were Councillors Darby, Gilbert, Richmond and Taylor.

75/17DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Phillip Duigan received direct representation in relation to Agenda item 
10 (schedule item 16) Dereham, (see Minute No. 82/17(p) below).

The Vice-Chairman, Councillor Frank Sharpe, declared an interest in Agenda 

27

Agenda Item 10a



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

item 10 (Schedule item 18) Ashill, (see Minute No. 82/17(r) below).

76/17CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman and Members of the Committee wished Councillor Marion 
Chapman-Allen a speedy recovery. 

77/172017 STATEMENT OF FIVE YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

The Director of Planning & Building Control informed the Committee of 
Breckland’s current situation in regards to its five year housing land supply.

The five year housing land supply was a comparison of the anticipated supply of 
new dwellings, against the number of new dwellings that were required to be built 
in Breckland (known as the housing requirement).  

The housing supply was made up of deliverable sites in suitable locations, 
available now and achievable in the next 5 years and was made up of the 
following components: sites with planning permission, allocations in the Local 
Plan and windfall sites.

To assess the Council’s 5 year land supply position, the identified supply against 
the comparison had to be compared using both the Core Strategy targets and the 
Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) target.  The Council’s historic under provision 
of housing from previous years had also been taken into account and added to 
the projection of future need using both the Liverpool and Sedgefield 
methodologies. On the basis of the figures as at the end of March 2017, 
Breckland Council was now below the level following a recent update from the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and could only demonstrate a 4.6 
year housing land supply using the Liverpool methodology.  One of the reasons 
for this shortfall was due to planning permissions not being built and some being 
delayed such as the Strategic Urban Extensions (SUE) in Attleborough and 
Thetford.

The allocation of additional land as part of the new Local Plan would assist in 
resolving the problem.  As the document gained weight, moving through the 
examination process, the emerging Local Plan allocations would remedy the 
current shortfall. On adoption of the Local Plan these sites would form part of the 
Council’s forward looking supply. 

In order to boost the supply of housing in the short term, in addition to the new 
Local Plan, the Council would now need to consider development on sustainable 
sites located outside identified settlement boundaries. This would only apply 
where sites have been demonstrated to meet the three limbs of sustainable 
development as defined within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

In response to a question, a review of the five year land supply statement should 
take place on an annual basis using the base date of 31st March each year; 
however, taking into account the Council’s current situation, and if development 
increased in the interim, a further review could take place later in 2017. 

In response to a question, outline planning permissions had been taken into 
account.

Referring to the build out rates on Appendix 1 of the report in regard to 
development in Necton, Councillor Duigan asked if the figures shown were 

Action By

28



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

realistic.  He also asked about the long list of small sites that had not been 
developed of which a trench would be dug to preserve the planning permission 
but not built out. In response to the first question, Members were informed that 
the evidence the Council had, had to be tested and normal measures would be 
applied. In response to the latter, Members were informed that there was a great 
deal of case law in relation to the implementation of planning permissions to 
demonstrate that the applicant/developer had made a start to keep the planning 
permission live.  The Planning Team put a great deal of effort on the major sites 
coming forward taking into account any S106 Agreements/Legal Agreements.  
Councillor Duigan felt that the Council should be more reliant on the smaller 
sites.  The Chairman pointed out that the delay on the Necton sites was in 
relation to drainage issues.  

Councillor Martin mentioned two large sites in Attleborough with restraints that 
were now stagnant. 

Councillor Nairn pointed out that the 54 dwellings in Weeting had not been 
included in the Statement.

Councillor Wilkinson asked if there was any mechanism in place that could put 
time limits on developers.  The Director of Planning & Building Control explained 
that someone could not be forced to complete a planning approval in a certain 
time period and quoted Article 35 of the Development Management Procedure 
Order which required the Council to be positive and proactive in order to facilitate 
development.  Locally the challenge was that there were many issues such as 
flooding, infrastructure etc all of which required to be in place to allow 
development to come forward.

The 2017 Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply was otherwise noted.
 

78/17REVISIONS TO LOCAL LIST (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Rebecca Collins, a Principal Planning Officer, presented the report.

The Council’s current Local List had been adopted in July 2015 and local 
authorities were required to review their list every two years.

An initial updating of the document had been carried out by Officers followed by a 
public consultation which included sending letters to potentially interested 
stakeholders/consultees including agents, parish and town councils.   A number 
of responses had been received and the comments/proposed changes 
summarised and included on the tracked changed version of the Local List on 
pages 48 to 74  of the agenda pack.

Members were asked to accept the changes and adopt the revised Local List.

RESOLVED that the draft Local List for 2017 for the validation of Planning 
Applications be adopted and all track changes be accepted.

79/17REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 7) 

 Agenda Item 9(b) and Agenda item 10, Schedule Item 3 (Dereham)
 Agenda item 10, Schedule item 10 (Attleborough)
 Agenda item 10, Schedule item 11 (Harling).

Action By

29



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

80/17URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

None.

81/17DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

(a) List of Deferred Reports  

Noted.

(b) DEREHAM: Land off Greenfields Road: Reference: 3PL/2016/1397/F  

Deferred for further information.

82/17SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

a) Item 1: Mattishall: Land south of Dereham Road: Erection of up to 50 
residential dwellings with associated infrastructure: Applicant: Gladman 
Developments Ltd: Reference:3PL/2015/0498/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.  A letter of representation from Councillor Bill Borrett had also 
been received urging the Committee to refuse the application:

Ward Representative: Councillor Paul Claussen

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou

Objector: Councillor George Freeman MP

Objector: Sylvia Gill & Anna Loake (Mattishall 
Matters)

Objector: Richard Stephenson (Mattishall 
Neighbourhood Plan)

Parish Council: John Rockliffe

Norfolk County Council: Graham Brown & Matt Aitchison 
(Flood Water Management)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal contrary to the 
Officer’s recommendation.

REASONS: Intrusion of built development into the open countryside 
and the creation of a hard edge to the village of Mattishall having a 
significant visual impact and harm to the character and appearance 
of the site and surrounding area, and the surrounding landscape.

Action By

30



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

b) Item 2: Wretham: Stonebridge Camp, Thetford Road, Stonebridge: 
development of Stonebridge Camp including erection of 27 dwellings 
(revised scheme): Applicant: Beres Development Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2016/0939/VAR

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.  

Ward Representative: Councillor Philip Cowen

Developer: Les Beres

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to:

i. the conditions as listed in the report; and

ii. authority be delegated to Planning Officers, in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Planning Committee, for the 
relocation of the sub-station and the retention of the current 
footpath ‘trod’ located along the Thetford Road frontage.

c) Item 3: Dereham: Land at Greenfields Road: 285 dwellings comprising 6 x 
5 bedroom house, 87 x 4 bedroom houses, 113 x 3 bedroom houses, 73 
x 2 bedroom houses, 4 x 2 bedroom bungalows and 2 x 1 bedroom 
bungalows together with associated access, pedestrian and cycle links, 
landscaping and open space: Applicant: Orbit Homes (2020) Ltd: 
Reference: 3PL/2016/1397/F

Deferred (see Minute No. 79/17 above).

d) Item 4: Hockering: Heath Road: Outline for residential development of up 
to 12 dwellings: Applicant: Greatbrisk Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2016/1262/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.  

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Parish Council: Richard Hawker & Susan Warren

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 for approval as recommended; 

Action By

31



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

subject to:

i) the conditions as listed in the report;

ii) a condition on ecology matters; 

iii) a legal agreement relating to 40% affordable housing, 
education and library contributions; and

iv) the Reserved Matters application to be brought back to the 
Planning Committee for consideration.

e) Item 5: Besthorpe: Hartland, Norwich Road: Construction of bungalow 
with detached garage/carport and siting of 2 no. living caravans and 1 no. 
touring caravan: Applicant: Mr & Mrs K Annison: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1393/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

Applicants: Mrs & Mrs Annison 

Applicant’s Agent: Mr Venning

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

f) Item 6: Watton: Development at the Old Carpenters Arms, Swaffham 
Road: Residential development for 23 dwellings with associated access 
roads, parking, garaging and amenity space: Applicant: S & A Jones 
Developments Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2016/1539/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

Applicant’s Agent: David Futter

Objector: Mr Webb

DECISION: Members voted 10 x 1 for approval as recommended 
subject to; conditions and a S106 Agreement as listed in the report.

Action By

32



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

g) Item 7: Hockering: Hill House, Park Lane: Demolition of existing buildings 
and redevelopment comprising 14 residential dwellings together with 
associated access, landscaping and boundary treatments: Applicant: Hill 
House Commercial Property: Reference: 3PL/2016/1552/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Parish Council: Richard Hawker

Applicant: James Gunn

Applicant’s Agent: Paul Brailsford

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 for approval as recommended; 
subject to conditions as listed in the report and a S106 
Agreement.

h) Item 8: Bawdeswell: Hall Road: Residential development of 40 dwellings, 
open space, associated infrastructure and vehicle access via Hall Road: 
Applicant: Property 192: Reference: 3PL/2017/0035/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Parish Council: Bill Cuncliffe

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Parker

Objector: David Shannon

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 for approval as recommended 
subject to conditions as listed in the report.

i) Item 9: Saham Toney: Richmond Hall: Residential development of 5 new 
dwellings: Applicant: Mr Graham Tweed: Reference: 3PL/2017/0270/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Action By

33



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal as 
recommended.

j) Item 10: Attleborough: Land north-west of Chapel Road School, 50 
Chapel Road: Residential development of 10 dwellings, including 
improvement works to access road and adjacent pavements: Applicant: 
Breckland Bridge: Reference: 3PL/2017/0342/F

Deferred (see Minute No. 79/17 above).

k) Item 11: Harling: Land off Church Road: erection of 4 detached dwellings 
and 2 semi-detached dwellings with associated access, landscaping and 
servicing: Applicant: Mr Mathew Barker: Reference: 3PL/2017/0388/F

Deferred (see Minute No. 79/17 above).

l) Item 12: Whissonsett: Telephone Exchange, Mill Lane: Erection of 1 no. 
self-build dwelling: Applicant: Mr John Newton: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0433/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings. 

Applicant’s Agent: Gareth Watts

Applicant: Mr Newton

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the report and, 
a further condition in relation to any unexpected contamination 
issues.  

Councillor Darby abstained from voting on this matter.

m) Item 13: Harling: Land off West Harling Road: Erection of up to 3 
dwellings: Applicant: Mauleys Farm: Reference: 3PL/2017/0491/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 

Action By

34



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant: Matthew Hustler

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Parker

Objector: Mr Bransby

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 2 for approval as recommended; 
subject to conditions as listed in the report.

n) Item 14: Colkirk: Land adjacent 7 Jarvis Drive: Formation of 2 x plots for 
the proposed construction of 2 x dwellings: Applicant: Mr Cameron 
Starling: Reference: 3PL/2017/0535/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant: Cameron Starling

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to conditions as listed in the report.

o) Item 15: Great Ellingham: Bow Street: Demolish workshop and erect 2 
storey dwelling: Applicant: Mr & Mrs Thomas: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0556/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant’s Agent: John Barbuck

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval; subject to the 
conditions as listed in the report.

p) Item 16: Dereham: Outline planning application for residential 
development for up to 100 dwellings including details of access: 
Applicant: Trustees of the GR Scott Will: Reference: 3PL/2017/0563/O

Councillor Duigan had received direct representation in relation to this 
application.

Action By

35



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

On behalf of the Applicant: Mark Robinson

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham

Objector: Alison Harris

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 4 for approval as recommended; 
subject to:

i. A S106 Agreement for 40% affordable housing and primary 
education contribution;

ii. the conditions as listed in the report;

iii. confirmation that the Highway Authority had reviewed the 
Dereham Transport Study in making its recommendation; 
and

iv. the requirement of an acoustic fence to be installed alongside 
the new access road in Westfield Road at the point of 
construction.

q) Item 17: Besthorpe: land to the rear of Village Farm, Silver Street: 
Demolition of three dilapidated farm buildings and erection of 2 pairs of 
semi-detached dwellings: Applicant: D J Thompson & Sons: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0593/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative: Councillor Stephen Askew

Applicant’s Agent: John Spencer

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

Action By

36



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

r) Item 18: Ashill: Land off Watton Road: detached single storey dwelling 
and detached garage: Applicant: Mr & Mrs J Spalding: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0597/F

Councillor Frank Sharpe, the Vice-Chairman declared and interest in this 
item.  He wanted it noted that the comments that he had made at a Parish 
Council meeting had been misconstrued as what he had actually said was 
that Officers would be recommending the application for approval not that 
the Committee would be approving it.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant: Mrs Spalding

Applicant’s Agent: Jonathan Burton

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

s) Item 19: Swaffham: Change of use from B1C to B1C, B2 and B8 to allow 
more flexibility in letting: Applicant: Breckland Council: Reference: 
3Pl/2017/0598/CU

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

t) Item 20: Hockering: Heath Road: Outline permission (with all matters 
reserved) for 4 x four bedroom houses, 4 x three bedroom dwellings 
bungalows with associated parking and gardens: Applicant: Monk Plant 
Hire Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2017/0600/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Action By

37



Planning Committee
31 July 2017

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Parish Council: Richard Hawker & Susan Warren

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Parker

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

u) Item 21: Attleborough: Poppies, Slough Lane: Creation of independent 
dwelling by detaching annex from existing dwelling: Applicant: Mr J Lawn: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/0620/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant’s Agent: John Spencer

DECISION: Members voted 10 x 1 for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

83/17APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

84/17APPEALS DECISIONS (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 4.40 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

38



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 29 August 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr F.J. Sharpe (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr K. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr P S Wilkinson
Mr K.S. Gilbert (Substitute Member)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr R.G. Kybird

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mrs A M Webb

In Attendance
Charlotte Brennan Technical Support Team Leader*
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control*
Rebecca Collins Principal DM Planner/Team Leader (Major 

Projects)*
Hugh Coggles Tree & Countryside Officer* (for Agenda Item 8)
Chris Hobson Principal Planning Officer*
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Helen McAleer Interim PA to the Leader of the Council

 * Capita for Breckland Council

Action By
85/17MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Subject to an amendment, to remove the title of Councillor before George 
Freeman MP on page 11, the Minutes of the meeting held on 31 July 2017 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

86/17APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Brame, M 
Champman-Allen and Clarke.

Councillors Gilbert and W Richmond were present as Substitutes.

87/17DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Agenda Item 10 (Schedule of Planning Applications):

Some Members had received direct representation and Councillor Duffield 
declared a personal interest in Schedule Item 1 (Gressenhall)
All Members had received direct representation on Schedule Item 6 (Yaxham) 
Councillor Wilkinson declared that he was the Ward Representative for Schedule 
Item 11 (Sporle).

39

Agenda Item 10b



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

88/17CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman informed Members that two members of staff were leaving; 
Heather Byrne and Rebecca Collins.  Both would be sadly missed and were 
thanked for all their help.

89/17REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Agenda Item 10 – Schedule Item 12 (Beeston) had been deferred from the 
agenda.

90/17URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

91/17LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Local Plan had been published for the pre-submission consultation which 
would close on 2 October 2017.  Submission of the Plan and preparation for the 
Examination in Public would take place early in the New Year.

Councillor Duigan asked if the Mallard Road appeal decision had changed 
thinking, as it had cast doubt on Settlement Boundaries and SPAs.  He was 
advised that the Inspector’s comments were regarding a specific issue of that 
application and did not have wider implications.

92/17REMOVAL OF T2 FROM TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2017 NO.3: 45 
QUEBEC ROAD, DEREHAM (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Consideration was given to the report presented by Hugh Coggles, Tree & 
Countryside Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application, in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.

Objector: Mr Harrison

DECISION:  Members voted 6 x 3 to confirm TPO 2017 No. 3 as 
recommended.

93/17DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

None.

94/17SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

a) Item 1: GRESSENHALL: Land off Bittering Street: Residential 
development of 5 new dwellings with associated access drive, parking, 
garaging and amenity space: Applicant: Abel Homes Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2015/1316/F

Action By

40



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

Councillor Duffield declared a personal interest in this item.  Some 
Members had received direct correspondence from Gressenhall 
residents.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor R Richmond

Parish Council Councillor Duffield

Agent/Applicant/ David Futter / Tony Abel
Technical Advisors Paul LeGrice, Dominic Blake

Objector Peter McIntyre

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

b) Item 2: SWAFFHAM: Land to the west of Watton Road: Up to 175 
dwellings including affordable housing and open space with detailed 
means of access: Applicant: Abel Homes: Reference: 3PL/2016/0068/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant Tony Abel / Paul LeGrice

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions and a S106 Agreement, as listed in the 
report.

c) Unit 3: HOE: Woodland Farm, Holt Road: Replacement Dwelling: 
Applicant: Mr Jonathan Stimpson: Reference: 3PL/2016/1277/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 

Action By

41



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor R Richmond

Applicants Mr & Mrs Stimpson

DECISION: Members voted 1 x 8 against the recommendation for 
refusal.

REASONS:  The proposal met the requirement under DC03 para 4.18 
for strategic housing assessment.

Members voted 8 x 1 to approve the application subject to 
conditions relating to: time limit; site investigation, submission of 
ecological management plan, tree protection measures; material; 
access, parking and turning areas to be provided before first use; 
and removal of the railway carriage on occupation of the new 
dwelling.

d) Item 4: DEREHAM: Former Malthouse, Land south of Norwich Road: 
Repair and refurbish maltings, erect 127 dwellings, garages and 
associated works: Applicant: Anglia Maltings (Holdings) Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1454/H

Items 4 and 5 were discussed at the same time.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor Webb

Town Council Councillor Monument

Applicant/Agent Simon Henry/David Thompson

Mid Norfolk Railway Chris Pearce

Objector Rebecca Cates

DECISION:  Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended 
subject to:

i. the conditions as listed in the report, including a S106 
Agreement;

ii. additional noise conditions;
iii. restricted hours of construction and delivery; 
iv. an Informative to highlight concerns about the scale of the 

buildings opposite cottages and the maximum number of units 
to be developed; and

Action By

42



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

v. a Direction that the reserved matters application comes back to 
Committee.

e) Item 5: DEREHAM: Former Malthouse, Norwich Road: Removal of later 
extensions and internal alterations/external repairs to allow return to use 
as a maltings: Applicant: Anglia Maltings (Holdings) Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1455/LB

Items 4 and 5 were considered at the same time.  See Minute No 94/17d) 
above.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor Webb

Town Council Councillor Monument

Applicant/Agent Simon Henry/David Thompson

Mid Norfolk Railway Chris Pearce

Objector Rebecca Cates

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended, subject to the conditions listed in the report.

f) Item 6: YAXHAM: Land north of Norwich Road: Erection of 25 dwellings 
with new access point and associated landscaping, open space and car 
parking: Applicant: Glavenhill Strategic Land (Number 9) Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1499/O

All Members had received direct representation on this application.  

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor Claussen

Ward Representative Councillor Dimoglou

Parish Council Peter Lowings

Action By

43



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan Ian Martin

Agent Jane Crichton

Objector Gary Davison

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for refusal as recommended.

g) Item 7: GREAT ELLINGHAM: Land SE of Church Street and SW of 
Attleborough Road: Outline planning application for residential 
development of up to 60 dwellings with all matters reserved except 
access: Applicant: Ms Kirsty Barnes: Reference: 3PL/2017/0265/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor Smith

Agent Robert Walker

DECISION:  Members voted 3 x 6 against the recommendation of 
approval.

REASONS: 

i.   The proposal represented an intrusion of built development in 
the countryside

ii. It created a hard edge to Great Ellingham causing harm to the 
village and surrounding landscape. 

iii. An informative to be added advising that Members had 
concerns about flooding.

h) Item 8: ATTLEBOROUGH: Pixie Paddock, Leys Lane: Erection of 4 
dwellings: Applicant: Mr Bunton: Reference: 3PL/2017/0351/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Agent John Barbuk

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended, 
subject to:

Action By

44



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

i. the conditions listed in the report; and
ii. a condition to remove permitted development rights.

i) Item 9: HARLING: Land off Church Road: Erection of 4 detached 
dwellings and 2 semi-detached dwellings, with associated access, 
landscaping and servicing: Applicant: Mr Mathew Barker: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0388/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Ward Representative Councillor Kybird

Agent Ian Hunter

Objector Elizabeth Murray

DECISION:  Members voted 8 x 1 for refusal, as recommended.

j) Item 10: GREAT ELLINGHAM: Conifers, Hingham Road: Demolition of 
existing prefabricated dwelling and erection of 4 No. dwellings: Applicant: 
Mr A Stubbs: Reference: 3PL/2017/0451/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

DECISION:  Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended, subject to the conditions listed in the report.

k) Item 11: SPORLE: Development Site, Dunham Road: Residential 
development for 5 dwellings including means of access (part 
retrospective): Applicant: Rowling Building Services: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0669/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Applicant / Agent Antony Pettifer / Neil Rowling

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 

Action By

45



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

recommended, subject to the conditions listed in the report.

l) Item 12: BEESTON: Adjacent Brookside, Syers Lane: Erection of two 
detached dwellings: Applicant: Mr Stephen Garner: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0702/O

This application had been deferred.  See Minute No 89/17 above.

m) Item 13: DEREHAM: Willow House, Dumpling Green: Construction of 
detached dwelling: Applicant: Mr Richard Morrissey: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0811/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

Agent Julian Pettifer

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 2 for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions listed in the report.

n) Item 14: HOLME HALE: Ivy Farm, Cook Road: Proposed residential 
development (4 dwellings) following the demolition of the existing stable 
block – resubmission of 3PL/2016/1172/O: Applicant: Col. Forman Hardy 
1987 No 2 Settlement: Reference: 3PL/2017/0838/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, 
Principal Planning Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings.

For Applicant Mr Brooks

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for refusal as recommended.

95/17APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

96/17APPEAL DECISIONS FOR INFORMATION (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.13 pm

Action By

46



Planning Committee
29 August 2017

CHAIRMAN

Action By

47



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 28 July 2017 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn

In Attendance
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Alison Riglar - Manager, Ernst & Young
Kevin Suter - Executive Director, Ernst & Young

Action By
40/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2017 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

41/17 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

None.

42/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Paul Hewett and 
John Newton.

43/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

44/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

45/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

None.

46/17 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Members were reminded of the training session that had been arranged 
to take place immediately following the Governance & Audit Committee 
meeting on Friday, 29 September 2017.

48

Agenda Item 11



Governance & Audit Committee
28 July 2017

2

47/17 AUDIT RESULTS REPORT 2016/17 (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Kevin Suter, the Executive Director for Ernst & Young LLP presented the 
Audit Results report.  The report summarised the key findings from the 
2016/17 audit and the areas of work that had been covered. The Group 
Accounts had been completed and an unqualified audit opinion on the 
financial statements would be issued despite the fact that a response 
from the bank in relation to the receipt of bank and investment 
confirmations had not been forthcoming and therefore alternate 
procedures had been undertaken.  Alison Chubbock the Chief Accountant 
and Deputy Section 151 Officer advised that there was no reason for the 
lack of response and she would be taking this up with the bank in 
question.

Members’ attention was drawn to page 21 of the agenda pack.  The 
Executive Director for Ernst & Young explained how the risks had been 
set out and the programme of works undertaken and was pleased to 
report that no major issues had been raised and he was happy with the 
Council’s process.

Referring to property, plant and equipment valuations and the pensions’ 
valuations and disclosures on pages 23 and 24 of the agenda pack, 
Members were informed that the audit focus was on the estimation 
techniques undertaken for these very large figures involved; but all had 
been reasonably assessed. The Chairman was aware that additional 
payments were being requested under the pension funds and asked what 
this would mean and what effect this would have on the end result.  
Members were informed that the additional payments requested were 
most likely an on-going process as part of the triennial valuation in order 
to close the deficit.

The Executive Director for Ernst & Young LLP advised that an auditor had 
been instructed to carry out the work undertaken in relation to Breckland 
Bridge subsidiary. A number of issues had not as yet been resolved on 
the subsidiary’s statutory accounts but were not material to this audit.  It 
was decided not to adjust the Council’s accounts as it was in relation to 
technical accounting adjustments and had no bearing on the sale value of 
Breckland Bridge assets in the long term.    The Chief Accountant and 
Deputy S151 Officer had been happy with this approach.

It was noted that the Council had strong arrangements in place for 
securing value for money (see page 33 of the agenda) and an unqualified 
conclusion had been given on the Councils’ arrangements.

Referring to the fees (on page 44 of the agenda), Members were informed 
that the audit fees had been contained at the level planned.

The Vice-Chairman was pleased with the work carried out by the 
Accounting Team

The Chairman thanked everyone concerned.

The Audit Results report was otherwise noted.

Action By

49



Governance & Audit Committee
28 July 2017

3

48/17 AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016-17 (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer was pleased to present the 
final audited statement of accounts which followed on from the previous 
item. Councillor Hewett had raised a couple of points in relation to 
formatting and these had been updated accordingly.

The Chairman asked if there was anything outstanding from the list of 
questions raised by Councillor Hewett.  It was noted that one of the 
questions related to a colour used on the pie chart and it had already 
been agreed that the colour black would be changed next year.  
Councillor Monument felt that black and yellow should be avoided in 
future.  It was further noted that a better narrative would be included at 
the start of the Accounts next year which should address one of the 
comments made by Councillor Hewett.

The Annual Governance Statement within the Accounts (page 156 
onwards) had been signed by the Chief Executive and the Leader 
following a number of minor changes made (details of the changes were 
circulated at the meeting) and there had been another paragraph added 
to the letter of representation relating to Breckland Bridge covered by the 
external auditors earlier in the meeting.

It was RESOLVED that:

a) the statement of accounts 2016-17 be approved;
b) the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 2016-17 be approved; 

and
c) the letter of representation 2016-17 be approved.

49/17 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The Chairman felt that the Work Programme was looking a little empty 
and asked if anyone had anything to add. 

It was agreed that discussions would take place with Mark Stinson, the 
Executive Manager for Governance & Deputy Monitoring Officer in 
relation to his Annual Standards Review report and when that should be 
brought back to Committee.

The Executive Director updated Members on what should be coming 
forward from Ernst & Young.  An email would be sent to the Democratic 
Services accordingly.

The Work Programme was otherwise noted.

50/17 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 29 September 2017 at 
10.00am in the Norfolk Room were noted.

The meeting closed at 10.35 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

50



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth   

To: Full Council – Thursday 21 September 2017

Author: Rob Walker, Executive Director of Place

Subject: Flexible Homelessness Support Grant 

Purpose: To seek agreement for the release of the Flexible Homelessness Support 
Grant 

Recommendation(s): 

That Council accepts and releases funds to the value of £167,123.39 provided under the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant. 

That the Executive Director for Place, in consultation with the Executive Member of Growth is 
granted delegated authority to commit and agree to the spend in accordance with the conditions of 
the Flexible Homelessness Grant. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Department for Communities and Local Government announced that arrangements 
for the administration of the Flexible Homelessness Grant in March 2017.

1.2   The Flexible Homelessness Support Grant is designed to transform the way councils fund 
homelessness services to give them greater flexibility to prioritise the prevention of 
homelessness. It is described as a radical replacement of the tightly controlled funding 
currently given to source and manage temporary accommodation for homeless individuals 
and their families.

1.3  The former Chancellor, George Osborne MP, announced at Autumn Statement 2015 that 
the Department for Work and Pensions’ temporary accommodation management fee 
would be replaced by a Department for Communities and Local Government grant from 
April 2017.

1.4   Under the existing ‘Temporary Accommodation Management Fee’, funding can only be 
used for expensive intervention when a household is already homeless, rather than on 
preventing this happening in the first place.

1.5   Due to the tight constraints of the previous funding Breckland has not previously 
considered bidding for funds. This is therefore an effective new grant for the Council. 

1.6   The new grant however will empower councils with the freedom to support the full range 
of homelessness services. This could include employing a homelessness prevention or 
tenancy support officer to work closely with people who are at risk of losing their homes.

1.7   Breckland Council has been awarded £167,123.39 for years 17/18 and £189,241.33 for 
years 18/19

51

Agenda Item 12



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1  Do nothing 

2.2 Agree to the release of funds relating to the Flexible Homelessness Grant.

2.3 Where the conditions of the grant are satisfied, agreement that the Executive Director of 
Place in accordance with the Executive Member for Growth is given delegated authority to 
spend the grant. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The first recommendation is necessary for the grant to be utilised and committed.  

3.2 As an operational grant to assist in the prevention of homelessness, the second 
recommendation will mean that the grant can be accessed in both a planned and reactive 
manner with the intention of supporting the Council to prevent homelessness. 

3.3 This grant will support spend from the Breckland Council provided Homelessness 
Prevention Fund and will look to achieve a saving from this area of spend. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 This grant will support the Housing Team in preventing homelessness within Breckland. 

The flexible nature of this grant means that is can be used in both a planned and reactive 
manner. An assessment of need has been undertaken within the Housing Service to 
determine what additional services could be secured to support the prevention of 
homelessness using this fund. 

Norfolk County Council has recently announced a number of reductions in funding which 
will affect how Housing related Support is provided across Norfolk. This grant will support 
the Breckland Housing Team to commission a tailored, innovative and outcome focused 
service intended to support the team in preventing homelessness and rough sleepers 
across the District. 

If the recommendations are approved, this will include the commissioning of two specialist 
support workers to provide a tailored and intensive support service to households at risk 
of homelessness. It is proposed that these posts will be on fixed term contracts for the 
duration of the grant and will provide support services exclusively for the Breckland 
Housing Service. 

If approved it is further proposed that these posts will be commissioned via Access 
Community Trust who are the current support provider at John Room House, the 
Council’s homeless hostel. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the     
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 

52



Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 Nothing to note 

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 Due to the value of the grant being in excess of £100k the release of the funds needs to be 

approved by full Council.

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 Nothing to note

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 Providing the right services in the right time and in the right way
5.4.2 Enabling stronger, more independent communities. 

 
5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 Nothing to note. 

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.6.1 Nothing to note

5.6 Financial 
5.7.1 The Council has received funds for years 17/18 and this approval is required to access 

these funds. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
5.8.1 Nothing to note

5.9 Reputation 
5.9.1 This grant, if utilised correctly should will result in enhanced services and therefore support 

a positive increase in reputation. 

5.10 Risk Management 
5.10.1 Nothing to note

5.11 Safeguarding
5.11.1 Nothing to note

5.12 Staffing
5.12.1 Nothing to note

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.13.1 It is intended that homelessness prevention initiatives can commence immediately on               

approval of the release of this grant. 

5.14 Transformation Programme
5.14.1 Nothing to note

5.15 Other 
5.15.1  Nothing to Note

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

53



6.1 All wards

6.2 …

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 Not applicable 

7.2 …

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs
Telephone Number: 01362 656268
Email: ross.bangs@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

54

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland District Council

Report of:        Phil Adams, Executive Manager People and Public Protection     

To: Overview & Scrutiny Commission: 14 September 2017
Full Council: 2 November 2017

Author: Vicki Lowry, HR Manager (Breckland)

Subject: Officer Code of Conduct

Purpose: This report presents the update of the Officer Code of Conduct. 

Recommendation

That the Code of Conduct be approved and to be implemented in line with changes 
highlighted in Section 2.0.

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Code of Conduct is a common reference document for all employees that 
defines the minimum standards of conduct that employees are expected to observe 
when carrying out their duties.  It is produced in the light of challenges employees 
face in the current, and more commercially orientated, environment.

1.2 The changes made to the Code of Conduct, which was last refreshed in 2012, have 
been shared with the Staff Forum and Unison representatives and both have agreed 
to provide support in communicating this update. 

2.0 AMENDMENTS MADE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT

The following table shows the key changes which have been made to each Section. 

Section (number and heading) Key change(s)

Introduction (New) Added how the values and Code of Conduct 
support the performance of the Councils

Scope (New) To say who is and  isn’t in scope

Roles and Responsibilities (New) to provide clarity on who and how should it 
be used

1.0 Employee Standards (Additional 
information)

How the Code of Conduct relates to people 
matters e.g.  appraisal, development, 
recruitment, equality and diversity as it 
should drive our daily practices

2.0 Information disclosure (Additional 
information)

Removes references to confidentiality, which 
is now in an additional heading

55

Agenda Item 13



3.0 Confidentiality (Additional Information) Confidentiality was previously included within 
information disclosure.

4.0 Information security (New) Added to link with ICT security procedures.

6.0  Relationship with Contractors Declaration of Directorships is now required.

8.0 Outside Commitments (Amended) For Breckland required Director consent to 
take up additional employment. Is now 
Senior Manager approval (or Director if 
Senior Manager request)

10. Personal interests (Amended) Reflects the transfer of the register of 
interests from Democratic Services to HR. 

Requirement to declare membership of 
organisations which has secrecy about rules 
or membership or conduct.

Declaration Form for employees to complete 
and return to HR (new)

13.0 Gifts and hospitality (Amendment & 
New para’s)

Declarations now made to the HR Team, 
rather than Monitoring Officer, for recording 
on the Gifts and Hospitality Register. 
(Amendment)

Cash must not be accepted with the 
exception, for example of refuse collectors 
receiving Christmas tips – this section has 
been changed to clarify that (for example for 
Refuse Collections) maximum of £5 per 
donation can be accepted and then shared 
with the rest of the crew

Declaration Form for employees to complete 
and return to HR (New)

14. Use of financial resources (New) New addition for Breckland.

20. Debts with the authority 
(New/Amendment)

Removal of the following paragraph:

No employee should owe money to the 
Council i.e. Council tax arrears, and the 
existence of such a debt may result in 
disciplinary action being taken. Any such 
debt should be brought to the attention of the 
employees Line Manager or HR as soon as 
the employee is able.

Insertion of the paragraph requiring an 

56



employee to advise their line manager 
should they have been overpaid in error.

23.  Use of Social Media (New) New which refers to Social Media Guidance

3.0       OPTIONS 

3.1  Do Nothing 

3.2  Approve the Code of Conduct for Breckland District Council 

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
4.1 That the amendments to the Code of Conduct be approved in order to ensure 

employees are clear on the minimum standards of conduct that they are expected to 
observe when carrying out their duties

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

5.1 To mitigate risk in the application of policies. 

5.2 To provide transparent, consistent and fair policies across the Council.

5.3 To actively support culture and change in a positive way.  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Constitution & Legal

6.2 Amendments to the Code of Conduct or related relevant policies, will be made as 
and when there are changes to constitutional or legal requirements. 

6.3 The Code of Conduct is designed with the intention to reduce the risk of litigation 
against the Council 

7.0 Corporate Priorities 

7.1 The proposals made with the intention of supporting the Councils’ corporate priority 
of providing the right services, at the right time, in the right way by ensuring the 
recruitment of high caliber individuals are in place to help deliver the corporate vision. 

8.0 Risk Management

8.1 These proposals are made (in part) with the intention of reducing the risk of litigation 
against the Council. These proposals are made with the intention of supporting the 
Councils strategic position by enabling effective policy management appropriately 
within the bounds of the law.

9 Staffing

57



9.1 These proposals are made in order to ensure the best possible infrastructure is in 
place recruit, select, retain and performance manage employees across the 
Council.

9.2 These proposals are made to ensure both staff and management are clear on 
relevant legislation, best practice and risk mitigation.

10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

10.1 Consultation has taken place with Unison 

11 Transformation Programme 

11.1 These proposals are made to support the Councils’ Transformation 
Programme

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Vicki Lowry, HR Manager Breckland
Telephone Number: 01362 6566236
Email: Vicki.lowry@breckland.gov.uk
Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Code of Conduct
Appendix B            Declaration Form -Personal Interest
Appendix C Declaration Form - Gift/Hospitality

58



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Officer Code of Conduct

Introduction

Operating across a large geographic area, including complex environments, the Council’s 
performance and levels of service are based on our values that guide all our activities. The 
Code of Conduct describes how the Councils put these values into practice everyday. It 
explains the Councils commitments and expectations towards our customers and each other 
and provides guidance for employees and everyone who works on our behalf.

The public is entitled to the highest standards of conduct from all employees working for the 
Councils.  Employees have an obligation to avoid conflicts between their private interests and their 
duty to the Councils, particularly where this could adversely affect the Council interests or in any 
way weaken public confidence in the conduct of the Council’s business.

This Code of Conduct (the Code) is a common reference document for all employees across both 
that defines the minimum standards of conduct that employees are expected to observe when 
carrying out their duties and is produced in the light of challenges employees face in the current, 
and more commercially orientated, environment.

Scope

This Code of Conduct applies to all employees of both South Holland and Breckland District 
Council. The Code does not apply to Elected Members, who have their own Code of Conduct set 
out in the relevant authority’s constitution.  Also in each Council’s constitution is protocol on 
Member/Officer Relations.

Aim

The objectives of the Code are to:

- set out clearly our standards of conduct
- define the Council’s expectations towards employees in their day- to day decision making 

and in their relationship with others
- provide support in case of questions or concerns
- to provide guidance for all employees in order to maintain and improve standards and to 

help protect employees from misunderstanding or unjustified criticism.  

Roles and Responsibilities

59



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Managers have specific responsibilities.  They are expected to refer to the Code of Conduct with 
their team members and make sure they understand it.  They are responsible for creating a speak -
up climate that will enable employees to discuss any issues.  They must ensure our standards are 
implemented and respected. They must behave in an exemplary way that embodies our values

All employees must understand and respect the standards contained in our Code of Conduct

Suppliers, contractors and partners are expected to apply standards that are equivalent to ours, in 
particular towards their employees.

1.0 Employee Standards

The Councils have confidence in the motivation, competence and sense of responsibility of our 
employees. Employees are expected to provide the highest possible standard of service to the 
public, and where part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to colleagues and Members 
with impartiality.

All employees must bring our values to life through their behaviours, ensuring that they carry out 
our daily activities in compliance with the Code of Conduct.

All employees have an annual appraisal during which objectives are set, performance and the 
respect of the Code of Conduct are assessed and development opportunities, facilitated by 
appropriate training are discussed.

The Councils pay particular attention to employees’ working conditions, especially the respect for 
individuals, the absence of discrimination, freedom of association, as well as the protection of our 
health and safety. No form of harassment is tolerated.

The Councils include employees in the development and progression by initiating and facilitating, 
by consultation and by engaging in ongoing dialogue.

The Councils recruit employees solely on the basis of our requirements and the specific capabilities 
of individual applicants.

The Councils develop our employees’ professional skills and careers without any discrimination, 
whether based on origin, gender, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity or affiliation 
with a political, religious, union organisation or minority group.
Employees are expected, without fear of recrimination, to draw the attention of an appropriate 
Officer to any deficiency in service, suspected impropriety or breach of Council procedures.

Colleagues, Elected Members and the Public are to be treated with dignity and respect at all times.

2.0 Information Disclosure 

The law requires that certain types of information must be available to Members, auditors, 
government departments, service users, trade unions and the public.  The Councils may decide to be 
open about other types of information.  

60



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Employees must be aware of which information the authority is permitted to release or not 
permitted to release due to the operation of law or a policy decision. If in doubt, guidance should be 
sought from an appropriate officer, such as the Monitoring Officer/Deputy Monitoring Officer 
before information is disclosed.

3.0 Confidentiality

Many employees are in a position to obtain information in the normal course of their employment 
which is highly confidential, politically and commercially sensitive, or is personal information 
protected by data protection regulations.

Employees may not disclose confidential information, whether verbally, in writing or 
electronically. Employees must not use any information for a personal reason or benefit, nor should 
they pass it on to others who might use it in such a way.  This includes information about the work 
of the Councils, their employees or members and the public.  Employees must make themselves 
aware of the requirements of Data Protection Act and Freedom of Information Act 2000 and obtain 
advice from the Council’s designated Freedom of Information Officer, where applicable.

Employees are responsible for the security of information in their possession, and must ensure that 
it remains secure at all times. Appropriate security measures should be taken by employees when 
they leave their desk or when working from home or from another location.

When an employee leaves the employment of either Council they must still respect the 
confidentiality of official information that has been made available to them in the course of their 
duties and not use this information for private, commercial and political gain.

Inappropriate disclosure of information or a breach of these rules in any other way will render 
employees liable to disciplinary action and could lead to criminal prosecution.

4.0 Information Security

Employees must not misuse their position by seeking information which they do not need to know 
to enable them to carry out their duties.  To assist this, users of the Council’s information systems 
must keep their equipment and logging in arrangements secure to ensure no unauthorised access. 
Employees should refer to the ICT security policy for further guidance where necessary.

5.0 Political Neutrality

Employees serve the Council(s) as a whole.  It therefore follows they must serve all Members of the 
Council and not just those of the politically controlling group, and must ensure that the individual 
rights of all Members are respected.

Senior Officers may be required to advise political groups on matters related to the Council’s 
business. They must do so in ways that do not compromise their political neutrality and should 
make themselves equally available to any and all political groupings.

61



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

By law, enforcement of the political neutrality of specific posts results in the position being 
considered “politically restricted”. Further details of politically restriction and a list of the positions 
subject to such are available on the intranet.

6.0 Relationships

Relationships with Elected Members

Mutual respect between employees and Members is essential to good local government.  

Close personal familiarity between employees and individual Members can damage the relationship 
and prove embarrassing to other employees and Members and therefore should be avoided.  

The Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, as set out in each Councils constitution, provides more 
detail.

Relationships with the Local Community and Service Users

Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the community they serve and ensure 
courteous, efficient and impartial delivery to all groups and individuals within the community.

Relationships with Contractors

All current and past relationships (including Directorship) of a business or private nature with any 
Council external contractors, or potential Council contractors, should be made known to the 
employee’s Line Manager, Senior Manager and/or Director and recorded in the Register of 
Personal Interests, held by HR.  Employees are to complete the Declaration Form for Personal 
Interests.

Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by fair competition against other tenders, and no 
special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for instance, friends, partners or relatives in 
the tendering process. No part of the local community should be discriminated against.  

Relationships between employees, and with job applicants or Members

The Councils recognise that close personal relationships may exist or develop within the 
organisations. For the purposes of the Code, such relationships are defined as:

 Individuals who are married, dating, co-habiting or similar.
 Immediate family members i.e. parents, step-parents, children, siblings, grandparent and 

grandchildren.
 Other relations e.g. extended family such as aunts, uncles, cousins, nieces, nephews and 

any other individuals with whom there is a close personal relationship.

Whilst the Councils do not seek to prevent relationships, and not all such may cause concern, there 
may be occasions where a perceived or actual conflict of interest exists.

62



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

The Code aims to ensure sensitive, effective management of such situations in order to avoid 
potential conflicts of interest, perception or accusation of bias, favouritism or prejudice. The 
Councils must also ensure that all employees feel confident of fair treatment without the fear that a 
close personal relationship will influence their or other employees’ treatment or broader working 
relationships.

Where there is a relationship (as defined), this should be disclosed, in confidence, to the Line 
Manager and HR by the employee(s) concerned (by completing the Declaration Form for Personal 
Interests).  This disclosure should be recorded on the employees’ personal file.  Failure to disclose a 
personal relationship could leave an officer open to allegations of misconduct should subsequent 
issues arise. When a relationship at work is declared, the impact of the relationship must be 
assessed by HR in consultation with a relevant manager (for example, Senior Manager, Director or 
Monitoring Officer) in the following areas:

 Potential conflicts of interest
 Potential confidentiality issues
 Impact on service users or the public
 Potential operational issues.

It is very important that any relationship is not seen to bring advantage to an employee and closer 
personal relationships between a manager and one of their staff should be avoided.  If such a 
relationship develops, it may be necessary to redeploy one of the employees.

7.0 Appointment and Other Employment Matters
Employees involved in the appointment of staff must follow established recruitment procedures at 
all times. Relationships with an applicant must be declared to HR. Employees should not be 
involved in decisions about discipline, promotion or pay adjustments for someone with whom they 
have such a relationship as described above.

8.0 Outside Commitments

Employees should be aware that their contract prevents them from taking outside employment 
which conflicts with the Council’s interests. This encompasses employment both within, and 
without the bounds of the district.

Employees are required to obtain written consent from their Senior Manager before taking up any 
outside employment. This will be recorded on their personal files. It should also be formally 
recorded by in the Register of Interests held by HR.  If the request to take outside employment is 
from a Senior Manager the consent must be obtained from a Director.

In all cases Senior Managers must ensure employees remain compliant with the working time 
directive.  Advice can be provided by the HR Team.

63



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Employees must not engage in private work in council time, on council property or using council 
equipment. Employees must also ensure that they clearly communicate that their private work is not 
being undertaken in association with the Council.

These provisions do not apply to public appointments or voluntary work such as a magistrate.

9.0 Intellectual Property, Inventions and Patents

Intellectual property is a legal term that refers to the rights and obligations received and granted, 
including copyright.  Ownership of intellectual property is determined by considering the 
circumstances in which it was conceived and developed. The Council own the copyright in 
materials made by or under their directions. This includes inventions, computer coding, drawings 
and original creative writings. Whether an employee or contractor, copyright in material produced 
in the course of work belongs to the employing Council, unless otherwise explicitly provided for in 
an employee’s contract of employment.  

Inventions and Patents made before 1 June 1978 are the property of the employer if made in the 
course of that employer’s employment.  However, the Patents Act 1977 states that after the 1 June 
1978 inventions are only the property of the employer if:

 They have been made in the course of the employee’s normal duties;
 They have been made in the course of duties specifically assigned to the employee and 

where invention might reasonably be expected, or;
 It was made in the course of the employee’s duties and at the time the employee had 

(because of the nature of their duties and particular responsibilities arising from them) a 
special obligation to further the interests of the employer.

10.0 Personal Interests

Employees must register any interest they or their family members have which may conflict with 
the Council’s interests, by providing written notification to their line manager who will then 
forward to Human Resources. Such interests include, but may not be limited to: employment by, 
substantial shareholding in, or membership of any company or body, including voluntary 
organisations, which has or may enter into a contractual relationship with the Council, or which is 
involved in campaigning or lobbying in respect of any council activity

At no time should an employee allow the impression to be created that they are, or may be, using 
their position to promote a private or personal interest.

Employees must not process any claim or application to the Council for themselves, a relative or 
personal friend.

Such personal interests must be logged in the Register of Personal Interests.

11.0 Separation of Roles during Tendering

64



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should be clear on the 
separation of client and contractor roles within the Council.   

Senior employees who have both a client and contractors responsibility must be aware of and 
demonstrate the need for accountability and openness.

Employees in contractor and client units must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing with 
all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors.

Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either internal or 
external contractors should not disclose that information to any unauthorised party or organisation.

Employees contemplating a management buyout should, at the earliest possible moment, inform the 
relevant Chief Officer as appropriate and withdraw from the in-house contract process.

Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former employees or 
their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or 
employing them in a senior or relevant managerial capacity.

12.0 Corruption

It is a serious criminal offence to corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage. 
If an allegation is made you may have to demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly 
obtained.

13.0 Gifts and Hospitality

Employees must show good sense and tact when receiving offers of gifts and/or hospitality, and any 
such offer must be discussed with their line manager or an appropriate senior officer prior to their 
acceptance.  N.B. a senior officer is defined as one whose post is included within the senior 
management structure.   The senior officer may agree that the gift/hospitality can be accepted 
however may request that the gift is shared with the employee’s team.

When considering offers of gifts and/or hospitality, employees must be particularly sensitive as to 
the timing in relation to decisions which the authority may be taking affecting those providing such.  
No such gifts or hospitality are to be knowingly accepted from contractors who are submitting a 
tender during a tendering period.

Employees must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence under the Local Government Act 
1972 for them corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing, or not 
doing, anything or show, favour, or disfavour, to any person in their official capacity.

Small gifts up to the estimated value of £25.00 such as chocolates or flowers may be accepted.   
Where any gifts or hospitality in excess of the estimated value of £25 are both offered or received, 
employees must submit a declaration, by completing the Gift and Hospitality Form, to HR for entry 
on to the register of Gifts and Hospitality, within 28 days. In such instances, it is the right of the 

65



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

authority to require that such gifts or hospitality be allocated in an appropriate way i.e. donation to 
corporate causes.

In normal circumstances cash must not be accepted.  Exceptions to this may be permitted provided 
that the amount given does not exceed £5.00, it is then shared with the rest of the team, and the 
approval of the Line Manager has been received.  An example of this exception might be “tips” 
given to refuse collectors at Christmas time.  If the individuals are in receipt of monies in this 
circumstance, it is their responsibility to declare this as part of a tax self-assessment form. 

Where necessary, an employee declining gifts and/or hospitality must do so in as gracious manner 
as possible, clearly explaining that the Code prevents them from accepting.

14.0 Use of Financial Resources

Employees must ensure that public funds entrusted to them are used in a responsible and lawful 
manner. 

The best possible value for money to the local community must be obtained in all transactions.

15.0 Equipment and Materials

The Councils’ telephone, computer systems, vehicles and other equipment and materials are the 
property of the Council and are provided for employees’ business purposes and for interaction with 
the public in the delivery of services.

Personal use of the internet must be strictly within the guidelines set out in the Council’s 
Information Security Policy which is available to all staff on the Council’s intranet.  Internet use 
should be restricted to the employee’s break times, such as lunch hours, and limited to issues which 
cannot reasonably be dealt with outside working hours.  Any continued or extensive use of the 
Council’s facilities should be discussed and agreed with the appropriate Line Manager.

Serious cases of misuse of the Council’s electronic communications systems may result in 
dismissal of the employee on the grounds of gross misconduct.

Further detail can be found in the Information and Security Guides available on the Council’s 
intranet.

16.0 External Sponsorship

When an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to sponsor a Council activity, whether 
by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the basic rules concerning acceptance of gifts or 
hospitality apply.   Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 
contractors.

66



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

17.0 Council Sponsorship of Community or Individual Activities

Where either Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, is giving support in 
the community, and employees are giving advice, they should ensure that it is impartial and that 
there is no conflict of interest involved. 

When the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor their partner, any 
relative or personal friends must benefit from the sponsorship in a direct way without there being 
full disclosure to the appropriate manager, which should be recorded on the Register of Interests.

18.0 Security

Employees must wear or carry their ID badge or card at all times whilst on Council premises. All 
employees are required to appropriately challenge people in secure areas of the Council’s premises 
without either an Employee ID or Visitor’s Badge.

Employees must not allow any individual not displaying an ID or visitor’s badge to follow them 
into any secure area of the Council’s premises (this includes friends and relatives).

For the protection of the public and employees, it is particularly important that employees are easily 
identifiable whilst working out in the community.   When making visits to the homes or premises of 
the public, official Council identification should be presented promptly without being requested.

19.0 Standard of Appearance

The Councils have the right to expect high standards of appearance and personal hygiene from 
employees whilst undertaking their duties.  Employees should be neat and well-groomed in 
appearance, whilst dressing appropriately for the task they are undertaking, and in accordance with 
locally agreed dress code where such are in effect. As examples, employees must not wear items of 
jewellery if they may cause the wearer or another person injury; office based employees should be 
dressed in appropriate business attire whilst those who are provided with a Council uniform should 
be wear this during business hours.

Other than by prior management agreement, casual or sports clothing is not considered suitable.

Sensible and suitable footwear must be worn at all times on Council business.

Where provided, safety equipment or clothing should be worn as instructed.   No such equipment 
should be tampered with and any defects apparent must be brought to the attention of the 
appropriate officer without delay.

20.0 Debts with the Employing Authority

No employee should owe money to the Council i.e. Council tax arrears, and the existence of such a debt may 
result in disciplinary action being taken. Any such debt should be brought to the attention of the employees 
Line Manager or HR as soon as the employee is able.

67



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

Debts accrued as a result of payroll errors are exempt from the requirement for employees to inform 
their line managers. However, where the officer becomes aware of such an overpayment without it 
having been notified to them by HR, it is their responsibility to bring it to the attention of HR.

Any loans, training debt or other payments needing to be made to the Council prior to leaving will 
be deducted from an employee’s final pay, however if the debt is larger than the amount being paid, 
an agreement will need to be made with the Council prior to exit on the outstanding monies will be 
paid back.

21.0 Conduct Outside Working Time

There is a respect of private lives and more specifically the personal data of all employees but 
employees should avoid doing anything that might adversely affect the reputation of the Council, 
bring the Council into disrepute or affect their ability to carry out their duties during work hours.

Should such misconduct occur, the Councils reserve the right to implement disciplinary 
proceedings.

22.0 Talking to the Media

Employees should be conscious of the sensitivity of some requests for information from the media. 
In responding to these requests, only the Chief Executive, Directors, Senior Managers, and the 
Communications Team should speak directly with the media.  Other members of staff may deal 
with them providing they have permission to do so from their Director or Senior Manager.

23.0 Using Social Media

The Councils’ recognise that many employees make use of social media in a personal and 
professional capacity. Employees must be aware that they can damage the organisation if they are 
recognised as being one of our employees.

Any communications that employees make through social media must not:

 bring the organisation into disrepute, for example by: 

o criticising or arguing with customers, colleagues or Members;

o making defamatory comments about individuals or other organisations or groups; or

o posting images that are inappropriate or links to inappropriate content;

 breach confidentiality, for example by: 

o revealing confidential information owned by the Council;

o giving away confidential information about an individual (such as a colleague or 
customer contact) or organisation or

68



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

 do anything that could be considered discriminatory against, or bullying or harassment of, 
any individual, for example by: 

o making offensive or derogatory comments relating to sex, gender reassignment, race 
(including nationality), disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief or age;

o using social media to bully another individual (such as an employee); or

o posting images that are discriminatory or offensive [or links to such content].

For further information, reference should be made to the Social Media Guidance available on the 
intranet. 

24. Substances and Alcohol

The inappropriate use of alcohol or substances can damage the health and well-being of employees 
and have far reaching effects. At work, alcohol or substance misuse can result in reduced levels of 
attendance, impaired work performance and increased risks to health and safety. The effects of 
alcohol or substance use may also be detrimental to the Council’s reputation and image and its 
ability to deliver high quality services.

Alcohol and substance misuse can affect behaviour performance and relationships, both within 
work and outside. It is recognised that such issues are very sensitive and individuals may face 
difficulty in coping with this aspect of their lives. The Substance and Alcohol Misuse policy and 
procedures and aims to offer appropriate support and guidance where possible, resorting to 
sanctions only where necessary. 

Employees have a responsibility to ensure they comply with the principles of the Substance and 
Alcohol Misuse  policy and procedures. They are expected to present a professional, courteous and 
efficient image to those with whom they come into contact at all times. They therefore have a 
personal responsibility to adopt a responsible attitude towards the consumption of alcohol and other 
substances to which the policy relates.

Failure to Follow the Code of Conduct 

All employees are responsible for ensuring that the Code of Conduct is applied. The Councils 
understand that an employee may need advice in order to make sure the employee is compliant with 
the Code of Conduct. If an employee needs guidance on any topic related to the Code of Conduct, 
contact your manager, or ask someone in the HR team or another manager.

Failure to follow the Code in any aspect may be raised in disciplinary action taken against 
employees for a breach of the Council’s rules or procedures.  Criminal sanctions may apply where 
an abuse of position has occurred as a result of a Council contract or where an employee or his/her 
relatives have gained pecuniary advantages.

If employees fail to make any declaration required by this Code, it will not, in itself, constitute a 
disciplinary offence.  However, should a relationship emerge which was relevant to the employee’s 
duties and this has not been declared as set out in this Code, non-declaration might be taken as 
evidence of misconduct or gross misconduct.

69



Officer Code of Conduct 
V11 August 2017

August 2017

70



Declaration of Interests Form
V1 August 2017

Declaration of Interests Form

All employees are required to notify the Council in writing if they or a family member:
 have a direct or indirect financial interest in any existing or proposed contract 

involving the Council
 have any connection or potential connection with any business or organisation 

(including a voluntary body) which deals with the Council (e.g. a  relative or friend is 
a supplier to the Council)

Employees must complete and return this form to their line manager, Senior Manager and or 
Director for approval before forwarding electronically to the HR Team for recording on the 
Register of Interests.

Name:

Position:

Service Area:

Interested party (if a 
family member):

Interest/Membership being 
declared:

Reason for declaration:

Date of declaration:

Line Manager Signature

Senior Manager/Director 
Signature 

71



Declaration of Gifts and Hospitality Form
V1 Aug 2017

Declaration of Gifts and Hospitality Form

All employees are expected to show good sense and tact when receiving gifts and/or offers of 
hospitality. Where such are accepted, and are estimated to be of a value greater than £25, 
officers must complete and return the following form to Human Resources, preferably 
electronically.

Name:

Position:

Department:

Date accepted:

Description of 
gift/hospitality:

Gift/hospitality offered by:

Estimated value:

Acceptance authorised by 
(Senior Officer) :
Additional relevant 
information:

72


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Minutes

	10a 31 July 2017
	Minutes

	10b 29 August 2017
	Minutes

	11 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes

	12 Flexible Housing Support Grant
	13 Officers Code of Conduct
	Officer Code of Conduct v10 August 2017
	Declaration of Interests Form v1, 14/09/2017 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Declaration of Gift and Hospitality Form v1, 14/09/2017 Overview and Scrutiny Commission


